DISSERTATIONES
ARCHAEOLOGICAE

ex Instituto Archaeologico
Universitatis de Rolando Eotvos nominatae

Ser. 3. No. 10. | 2022



Dissertationes Archaeologicae
ex Instituto Archaeologico
Universitatis de Rolando E6tvés nominatae

Ser. 3. No. 10.

Editor-in-chief
Déavid BARTUS

Editorial board
Laszl6 BarTosiEwicz (Stockholm University, Stockholm, Sweden)
Ondftej Cuvojka (University of South Bohemia, Ceské Budéjovice, Czech Republic)
Zoltan Czajrix (E6tvos Lorand University, Budapest, Hungary)
Miroslava DaANoVA (University of Trnava, Trnava, Slovakia)

Mario GAvRANOVIC (Austrian Arhaeological Institute AAS, Vienna, Austria)
Hajnalka HErOLD (University of Exeter, Exeter, United Kingdom)
tKlara KuzmovA (University of Trnava, Trnava, Slovakia)

Tomés Konic (Comenius University, Bratislava, Slovakia)

Tina MrLavEic (University of Ljubljana, Ljubljana, Slovenia)

Gabor V. SzaB6 (E6tvos Lorand University, Budapest, Hungary)
Tivadar Vipa (E6tvos Lorand University, Budapest, Hungary)

Technical editor
Gabor VAczi

Proofreading
Katalin SEBOk

Cover picture

Péter Komra

Aviable online at http://ojs.elte.hu/dissarch
Contact: dissarch@btk.elte.hu
ISSN 2064-4574 (online)

Publisher
Laszl6 BorHY

© ELTE E6tvos Lorand University, Institute of Archaeological Sciences

© Authors
_I Kl WDOAJ ERIHANIE
PUBLIC EUROPEAN REFERENCE INDEX FOR THE
KNOWLEDGE HUMANITIES AND SOCIAL SCIENCES

PROJECT

Budapest 2023


https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9309-766X
https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1588-4406
https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6324-4593
https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0340-2841
https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1324-566X
https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6249-1819
https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8478-943X
https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2594-7471
https://fphil.uniba.sk/en/konig/
https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6916-0382
https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6680-7590
https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0588-1906
https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5068-1404
https://orcid.org/0009-0002-1928-2127
https://www.komka.hu/index.php/onepage
http://ojs.elte.hu/dissarch
mailto:dissarch%40btk.elte.hu?subject=
https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8443-0619

CONTENTS

ARTICLES

Norbert FARAGO — Attila PENTEK — Géabor ILoN 5
The Vamoscsalad-Kavicsbanya Site (Vas County): Preliminary Results of the Evaluation

of the Lithic Assemblage

Adam Artar Nyiré — Balazs HoLL — Gabor V. SzaBo 29
Rescue Excavation in Aggtelek-Baradla Cave in 2019

Méaté MERVEL 47
Cereals from the Late Bronze Age Fortified Settlement of Tallya-Ovar

Janos Gabor TARBAY 63
A Late Bronze Age ‘Hoard’ and Metal Stray Finds from Tiszal6k-Razompuszta
(Szabolcs-Szatmar-Bereg County, Hungary): Artefacts from the Protected Private

Collection of Laszl6 Teleki

Polett Kosa 93
Special Ceramic Figurines from the Late Bronze Age Settlement of Baks-Temet6part

Linda DoBosr - Laszl6 Boruy 129
The Legionary Tilery of Brigetio and the Late Roman Watchtower at Kurucdomb:

The 1934-1935 Excavation of Istvan Paulovics at Komarom/Szény-Kurucdomb

with a Catalogue of the Brick Stamps

David BARrTUs - Laszl6 BorHy — Kata DEvar - Linda DoBosr - Csilla SARS —

Nikoletta SEY — Emese SzZAMADO 193
Twenty-five Years of Excavations in Brigetio at the Site Komarom/Szény-Vasartér

Adrian MELYKO 247
A Late Medieval House in Mosonmagyarovar: Archaeological and Architectural Research

of the Cselley House

FIELD REPORTS

Gébor V. SzaB6 — Marcell Barcst — Péter Biro — Karoly TANKO — Gabor VAczi — Péter MOGYOROS 277

Investigations of an Early Iron Age Siege: Preliminary Report on the Archaeological
Research Carried out at Dédestapolcsany-Verebce-bérc between 2020 and 2022



Boyan ToTEV - Varbin VARBANOV — Svetlana TopOROVA — Lajos JuHAsz — Bence S1MON 301
Caron limen / Portus Caria: Ancient Port and Fort on the Black Sea Coast at Cape of Shabla

David Bartus — Laszl6 Boray — Gabriella GATFALVI-DELBO — Kata DEvarl — Linda DoBosr -

Lajos JurAsz — Barbara HAjpu — Zita Kis - Anna Andrea NAGY — Csilla SARS — Nikoletta SEy —
Bence S1MON — Emese SZAMADO 317
Excavation at Brigetio, Komarom/Szény-Vasartér in 2016: The Find Material

David BArTUS — Melinda SzaB6 — Szilvia JoHACZI — Lajos JuHASZ — Bence SIMON —

Laszl6 BoraY — Emese SZAMADO 355
Short Report on the Excavations in the Legionary Fortress of Brigetio in 2021-2022:

The Legionary Bath

THESIS REVIEW ARTICLES

Géabor MESTERHAZY 369
Archaeological GIS Modelling and Spatial Analysis in the Vicinity of Polgar

from the Neolithic to Middle Ages

Melinda SzaBo 387
The Social Background of Trade and Commerce in Pannonia

Daniel PoprTY 401
Avar and Arpadian Age Populations along the Maros River: Settlement History Research

in the Hungarian Part of the Maros Valley

Katalin Boglarka BoGNAR 421

Yellow Pottery in the Late Avar Period



Rist Dissertationes Archaeologicae 3.10 (2022) 247-276 10.17204/dissarch.2022.247

A Late Medieval House in Mosonmagyarovar

Archaeological and Architectural Research
of the Cselley House

Adrian MELYKO

Institute of Archaeological Sciences, E6tvos Lorand University, Hungary
melykoadi@gmail.com

Received 8 May 2022 | Accepted 20 December 2022 | Published 31 March 2023

Abstract: The late medieval origins of 19 F6 Street, or as it is often called, the Cselley House,
have been investigated during the reconstruction of the Old Town of Mosonmagyardvar in
1974; the works brought to light several in situ details. Ferenc David excavated the building’s
walls on multiple occasions as the renovations progressed, while Rezs6 Pusztai and Péter Tomka
led archaeological excavations to explore earlier building phases of the street wing of the
building complex. My BA thesis discussed the building’s history between the 13th and the
mid-18th centuries. The late medieval reconstruction was a major one when the house got the
basics of its current facade and layout. Also, this was perhaps the time when it had the highest
prestige. The house was a two-storey building with a reverse L-shaped ground plan, a ground
floor divided by a vaulted doorway, and an enormous cellar in the courtyard wing. Based on
analogies and excavations, the related building phase can be dated to the second half of the
15th century (probably around AD 1470-1480) or the turn of the 15th and 16th centuries at
the latest. The house was special because of its exceptional size, the ornate openings, and the
great ceremonial hall with two bay windows on the upper floor. The building is also important
as the original inner division is still visible today, providing the research on medieval houses
with a valuable source.

Keywords: Mosonmagyardvar, Late Medieval Period, residential building, bay window,
Cselley House

Introduction

I surveyed the archaeological and architectural history of the building under 19 F6 Street, also
called Cselley House, a significant monument in the Old Town of Mosonmagyardvar, as my BA
thesis for the Institute of Archaeological Sciences of E6tvos Lorand University. The study was pre-
pared under the supervision of associate professor Dr Maxim Mordovin. The town is situated in the
middle of the Little Hungarian Plain (Kisalfold), where the River Leitha (Lajta) joins the Danube.
The area was first inhabited in Roman times; also, several minor settlements existed there later,
preceding the emergence of the town. Magyaro6var, the Old Town of today’s settlement, is divided
by two wide, almost parallel streets running southwest-northeast: the narrow Magyar Street on
the eastern and the wider F6 Street on the western side. The main square, with the Roman Catholic
church, is located between the two. The plot under 19 Fé Street, akin to its neighbours, has a wide
street front and stretches deep until the Bastya Promenade. The Varoshaza Street starts across the
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Fig. 1. Street facade of the building at the time of the wall research campaign (Hungarian Museum of
Architecture, Data Archive on Jasz Street, Inv. no. 22629).

Cselley House and connects F§ Street with the main square.! The plot is entirely built-in nowadays.
A building complex comprising a two-storey building, with a street wing facing the Bastya Prome-
nade and a courtyard wing, and a separate lean-to was erected on the north-western/western side
of the plot. The ground floor of the street wing is divided by a gateway. The northern end of the
courtyard wing is connected to the southern end of the courtyard wing of the other building on
the plot, facing F6 Street on the south-eastern side, and the two form a C-shaped structure. Inside
the C, the lean-to is attached to the north-western wall of the neighbouring building. My research
has focused on the building facing F6 Street, consisting of a street and a courtyard wing, the latter
stretching toward the inside of the plot. The street wing has two floors, while the courtyard wing
has one and a half. The house also includes a basement and a cellar. The vaulted entrance is posi-
tioned asymmetrically on the street facade; thus, its northern side is shorter and the southern side
considerably longer. The roof of the street wing runs parallel to the street, while that of the court-
yard wing is perpendicular, attached to its south-western end.

The medieval origin of the house was unknown for a long time; it was described as an 18th-cen-
tury structure even in 1966. The reconstruction of the building, a private property then, started in
1974-75, and the works brought to light medieval openings and other kinds of in situ details in both
wings (Fig. 1; 2; 3; 4; 5; 6). Art historian Ferenc David investigated the relics and established the me-
dieval origin of several parts, including the attic. Thus, the reconstruction continued under the sur-
veillance of the National Inspectorate for Monuments (Orszagos M{iemléki Feliigyel6ség), with the
(by then, altered) purpose of turning the building into a place suitable for a museum.? Wall research
was extended to the interior to better understand the building phases. At the same time, museum
director Rezs6 Pusztai (and later, archaeologist Péter Tomka with Pusztai’s assistance) explored the

1 DAVID 1976, 6; SEDLMAYR 1983c, 5; DIMENY 2018a, 7—8, 13; DIMENY 2018b, 22-24.

2 FoLTANYI 1973, 1; HUJBER 1973, 1; DAVID 1976, 1; SEDLMAYR 1976a, 1; SEDLMAYR 1976b, 1, 2; PUSZTATI 1976;
SEDLMAYR 1983c, 1-2.
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area around the gateway in a prob-
ing trench in 1976 to reveal more of
the monument’s history and deter-
mine the depth of its foundations.
The attempt proved successful, as
the excavation yielded traces of
earlier building phases.® The subse-
quent excavation, between 9 May
and 12 June 1977, was both more
large-scale and challenging. The fi-
nal field season was in 1980, shortly
before the end of the reconstruc-
tion works, when Rezsé Pusztai
conducted a rescue excavation in a
small area and found a well. Follow-
ing the end report in 1982, Angel
Radukov cleaned and preserved the
plastered medieval and post-medie-
val wall parts in 2002-2003.*

The current research was based
mainly on the considerable excava-
tion and reconstruction documen-
tation, completed by information
from the data archives of the Hun-
garian National Museum, the Muse-
um of Hungarian Architecture, and
the Hansag Museum,’ and available
analogies. I also visited the place
to improve my knowledge of the
house, take photos, and measure
some parts. As the thesis focused
on the building, not the finds, the
main aims were to determine build-
ing phases and the functions of the
spaces. The plot was first built in
approximately 700 years ago, and it
was possible to distinguish at least
ten phases in its building history

.

Fig. 2. Courtyard facade with the exposed medieval openings
and other details (Hungarian Museum of Architecture,
Data Archive on Jasz Street, Inv. no. 22629).

Fig. 3. Openings XXa and XXb with the painted plastered wall
between them (Hungarian Museum of Architecture, Data
Archive on Jasz Street, Inv. no. 22629).

from the mid-13th to the mid-18th century.® Buildings of exceptional size, design, and shape could

be linked to several of the phases, indicating a high-status owner (phase VII: Late Gothic, phase IX:

SEDLMAYR 1976, 3; PuszTAl 1977, 62; TOMKA 1977b, 1, 20; ARHERN 1983, 4; SEDLMAYR 1983c, 2.
4 PuszTAal 1977, 62; TOMKA 1977b, 1, 16, 19-20; PuszTAl 1980, 2; PuszTAI 1981a, 107; BALAZS 1982, 3; RADU-

Kov 2003, 1, 5.

5 I would like to express my gratitude to the staff of all three institutions for their assistance.

6  As later building phases are relatively modern and the available information on them is rather scarce,

they are not discussed here.
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Fig. 4. Street facade of the building at the time of the wall research campaign (after Strohmayerné 1976, 05;
Hungarian Museum of Architecture, Data Archive on Jasz Street, Inv. no. 22631).

0 100 200 300 400 500 600 700 800 900 1000 1100 1200cm

Fig. 5. The cross-section of the street wing and facade of the courtyard wing during the wall research
campaign (after A. Vandor, M. Walsa, Strohmayerné 1976, 03. Hungarian Museum of Architecture, Data
Archive on Jasz Street, Inv. no. 22631).
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Fig. 6. The cross-section of the courtyard wing and the street fagade during the wall research campaign.
(after A. Vandor, M. Walsa, Strohmayerné 1976, 03. Hungarian Museum of Architecture, Data Archive on
Jasz Street, Inv. no. 22631).

Renaissance, phase X: Baroque). While the presentation of all phases would undoubtedly provide
useful new data for research, this study focuses only on the Late Gothic phase VII, which is ide-
al for research as it comprises a major transformation of the house into a prestige building with
easy-to-distinguish architectural elements that still determine the appearance of the complex to-
day. Moreover, it is an excellent example of late medieval architecture, especially regarding the
division of space and the facades.

The plot was built in to varying extents in the six preceding building phases; the previous buildings
were erected using different construction methods and had diverse sizes and functions.

The plot was first built in when the first buildings of the Magyardvar part of the recent town were
erected in the second half of the 13th century (phase I). An at least two-room one-storey building
was constructed north-east of the current gateway; some coeval relics (wall remains and a fence
section) discovered south of the gateway are more difficult to interpret. If these were connected
with the remains in the north-eastern zone, that building might have had an L-shaped ground plan.
The walls had a simple post-framed structure reinforced with stakes at points.” Heating infrastruc-
ture included a vaulted stove that was renewed twice and another older one with a spark catcher’s

7 ToMKA 1977a, 15 June 1977, 14; 16—17 June, 15; 12 July, 16—18; AszT 2006, 33; MAJOR 2018, 68.
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remains inside the house. Chronological characteristics and the closest analogies in Sopron, Gy®r,
Esztergom, and Helemba date this building phase to the mid-13th century—it cannot be older as the
area only started to be developed at that time.?

After the first buildings had been destroyed, a one-room one-storey building with a post frame and
wattle-and-daub walls was erected on top of their levelled debris (phase II). Based on the oven and
ash pit unearthed in it, the building was probably residential. That this building was built on top
of the debris of the previous one and even utilised some already existing architectural elements
(postholes) perhaps indicates the formation of the plot system in the area and the fixing of the plot
borders sometime in the second half of the 13th (certainly before the 14th) century.’

The following phase (III) was the most complex of
them all, comprising two sub-phases or major con-
struction events. First, after the building of phase II
had burned down, a residential building was estab-
lished in the area of the recent gateway and the rooms
south-west of it. The remains of this complex, built in
the early 14th century, were found at a depth of 90 cm
from the modern surface. It comprised a larger build-
ing, of 7.5x8 metres, parallel to the street, separat-
ed from a smaller outbuilding, of 3.6x3.7 metres, by
a gravel-covered driveway. A wooden well was also
discovered in the courtyard, north-west of the out-
building (Fig. 7)."° According to the evidence of daub
remains, these buildings probably had a post-framed 050100150 200250 300 350 400 cm
superstructure resting on a sole plate on a wet stone
foundation, similar to coeval houses in Visegrad, Buda,
or the manor house at Kisnana. Both buildings were  Fig. 7. Survey map of the brick-lined well north-
one-storey, and the main building had at least two  West of Room 6 (after R. Pusztai 1981, 646.93,
rooms in the first sub-phase. While parts of it remained ~ Hansag Museum). The legend see: Fig. 24
unchanged, the main building was extended during a

major reconstruction related to an upswing in the economy in the mid- or second half of the 14th cen-
tury.” The main building was expanded towards north-east, its facade reaching a width of 13.2-13.7 m.
Its internal division incorporated the earlier one, extending it into a four-room ground plan; the out-
building remained one-room. Besides, a post-framed auxiliary building was erected in the courtyard;
the precise interpretation of its remains is problematic."” The data presented above and contemporary

&\\\Vx\ N \\\\\\\\x§
N

AV
SN,

8 ToMKA 1977a, 15 June 1977, 14; 16—17 June 1977, 15; 12 July 1977, 17. Pozsony/Bratislava (PArLOCzI-
HORVATH 2001, 222, 224, 239; TAKACS 1993, 45-46; BALINT 1960, 106), Esztergom-Szentkiraly (SEDLMAYR
1986, 326), Gy6r (TomMKA 1977b, 46).

9 ToMKA 1977a, 27 May 1977, 6; 7 June 1977, 9; 8 June 1977, 10; 19 June 1977, 11.

10 ToMKA 1977a, 26 May 1977, 5; 31 May 1977, 7; 1 June 1977, 7; 7 June 1977, 9—10; 8 June 1977, 10—11; 13 June
1977, 12—13; 14 June 1977, 13; 15 June 1977, 14—15; 16—17 June 1977, 15; 19-20 June 1977, 11; 12 ]uly 1977,
16—19; PuszTaAr 1980, 2; PuszTAr 1981b.

11 This probably also related to the fact that the town, a royal property for half a century, was granted
privileges in 1354. GEORGIUS 1833, 324-327, transcript 590-591; TomkA 1977a, 26 May 1977, 5; 31 May
1977, 7; 14 June 1977, 13; 15 June 1977, 14; PuszTA1 1980, 2; BUuzAs 1992, 33, 34, 42; PALOCZI-HORVATH 2001,
245; ENzSOL 2004, 31-37; ASzT 2006, 39; MESZAROS 2009, 74, 79, 80; BENDA 2010, 95-96; BuzAs et al. 2010,
10; NAGY 2011, 165, 168; BuzAs 2012, 6, 9; MAJOR 2018, 76—80.

12 Tomka 1977a, 26-27 May 1977, 4-6; 1 June 1977, 7-8; 8 June 1977, 10; 14 June 1977, 13; 15 June 1977, 15;
19-20 June 1977, 11; 12 July 1977, 17-19.
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Fig. 8. Southern profile of trenches E1 and E2 (after P. Tomka and R. Pusztai 1977, lll. 26/ 1978. Hungarian
National Museum, Data Archive on Magyar Street, Inv. no. 11382). The legend see: Fig. 24

analogies, like 76 Church Street, Tewkesbury, outline a residential building that included, in both
sub-phases, a workshop or store and a separate outbuilding south-west of it, probably also related to
trade. Interestingly, the eastern fagade of the building today is the very one built in the first sub-phase,
which might indicate that the building’s facade and, thus, the street front was more or less complete
already in the early 14th century. The use period connected to the second sub-phase might be longer,
as attested by the related floor, found at a depth of 0.80-0.85 m, that had been renewed several times
before the structures burnt down at the end of the 14th century.”

No major transformations can be linked to phase IV at the end of the 14th or early 15th century.
A part of the plot was filled up with clay, and the previous structures were rebuilt roughly in the
place where they stood before. The walls were reinforced with thick posts set into a thick mortar
layer; their size and the recovered daub fragments hint at the structure of the walls and reveal that
the building in this phase was two-storey.** A stove stood near the south-western corner near the
western wall of the street wing. It was set in mud bricks, with an ash pit in the courtyard outside
the building. Therefore, the room, being smoke-free and heated, was suitable for accommodation
and cooking. We have no additional information on the internal division of the building. As for
its fate, it probably became destroyed by fire like its predecessors—a frequent end for buildings in
medieval towns and cities.”

The next building, representing phase V, was erected on the ruins of the burnt-down one at the turn
of the 14th and 15th centuries at the earliest. It was a one-storey, one-room house of 6x5.6 m; its
remains became incorporated later into the room north-east of the gate, making up the lower 1.5
metres of its walls. The building of phase V probably had a rubble wall reinforced with ashlars at the
corners. In lack of any evidence pointing another way, I determined it as a shed or storage building;

13 ToMKka 1977a, 26 May 1977, 5; 27 May 1977, 5-6; 1 June 1977, 8; 7 June 1977, 9; 8 June 1977, 10-11; 13 June
1977, 12; 14 June 1977, 13; 12 July 1977, 16—19; BENDA 2017, 528-529, 530, 531, 53.

14 ToMKkA 1977a, 19 May 1977, 3; 25 May 1977, 4-5; 27 May 1977, 6; 7 June 1977, 9-10; 8 June 1977, 10; 13 June
1977, 12; 14 June 1977, 13—14; 12 ]uly 1977, 16.

15 Tomka 1977a, 18 May 1977, 3; 20 May 1977, 3—4; 23-24 May 1977, 4; 25 May 1977, 4-5; 27 May 1977, 7; 7
June 1977, 9-10; 14 June 1977, 13-14; 15 June 1977, 15; 12 July 1977, 17-18; PuszTAI 1980, 2; PALOCZI-HOR-
VATH 2001, 1, 13, 17; NAGY 2011, 166—168; BuzAs 2012, 6, 9.
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based on coeval analogies, it could be a lesser outbuilding or a two- or three-storey private urban
tower, a complex structure incorporating residential and economic parts, popular, for example, in
the nearby Sopron at the time.**

The relation between phases V and VI is unclear. The building connected to the latter was built in
a different area, inside the plot, about 11.4 metres away from the street, and perhaps at the same
time as that of phase V. Its relatively thick walls indicate that the undivided, sunken floor level or
cellar once supported at least one more floor. Its extents are 14.4—-6x7 m or more; its rubble walls are
today part of the courtyard wing’s ground floor and, partially, the northern side of the first floor."
This building was a Steinwerk with residential spaces on the upper level and a space for storage on
the ground floor, analogies to which may be found at several places, including Buda, Trnava, and
Bratislava. Based on the analogies and the chronological position of the excavated remains, this
building was erected at the turn of the 14th and 15th centuries or in the first half of the 15th century.
Later, the remains of the buildings of phases V and VI became incorporated into the Late Gothic
prestige building of phase VII."”

0 20 100 200 300 400 500 cm

Fig. 9. Western profile of trenches D1-D3 (after P. Tomka and R. Pusztai 1977, Ill. 26/ 1978. Hungarian
National Museum, Data Archive on Magyar Street, Inv. no. 11382). The legend see: Fig. 24

The late medieval phase VII

In late medieval times, the buildings of phases V and VI were transformed into a single two-storey
building complex of considerable size, with a reverted L-shaped ground plan parallel with the street.
This is the phase in the history of the plot that determined the appearance of the buildings standing
on it today. The Late Gothic building complex comprised an eastern street wing and a northern

16  SZOBOSZLAY 2022.

17 ToMKkA 1977a, 17 May 1977, 1-2; 18 May 1977, 2-3; 20 May 1977, 3—4; 23-24 May 1977, 4; 3 June 1977, 8; 12
July 1977, 16, 20; DAVID 1976, 1, 5; SEDLMAYR 1983c, 2, 5; SEDLMAYR 1986, 330, 334, 339; SZOBOSZLAY 2018,
152, 154—156.

18  DAVID 1976, 1, 3; TOMKA 1977a, 12 July 1977; ARHERN 1983, 1; SEDLMAYR 1983b, 006918—-006919.

19  H. GYURKI 1987, 63, 69; FERUS — BAXA 1988, 85, 88—89, 95; KAaZIMIR 2001, 204; ZUFFOVA 2001, 199; HoLL
2011, 386—-387.
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0 20 100 200 300 400 500 cm

Fig. 10. Northern profile of trench D1 (after P. Tomka and R. Pusztai 1977, lll. 26/ 1978. Hungarian National
Museum, Data Archive on Magyar Street, Inv. no. 11382). The legend see: Fig. 24

courtyard wing that included the remains of the former buildings. The mortary ground floors were
discovered at a depth of 0.3-0.5 m from the recent surface in the courtyard wing (trenches D1-5),
while at 0.14-0.2 m in the eastern wing (trenches E1 and E2) (Fig. 8; 9; 10). The walking level at the
gate was about 0.48-0.5 m lower than today, but it became filled up in several layers in the course
of its prolonged use.” A part of the courtyard north-west of the gate was probably covered with
gravel. The first-floor level was about 0.80 m higher in the street wing than the other. The facade of
the complex was 21.85 m wide, the same as today; its width varied between 9.5 and 9.75 metres, ex-
cept for the southwestern end with a 1.5-1.6-metre-wide part protruding toward the courtyard. The
building was divided in two by a 3.65-4-metre-wide vaulted gateway in the facade. The narrower
north-eastern rooms were 6.15 m, the wider south-western ones 11.7-metre wide. The front of the
courtyard wing differed from today: while its width was the same, 7.2 m, it was way longer, about
17.2 m, stretching toward the inside of the plot at the expense of the gateway (Fig. 11; 12; 13; 14).*

The thickness of the street wing’s exterior walls varied. The northern part of the eastern front wall
was 0.75 m, and the southern, about 0.9 m. The south-western front wall was 0.65-0.9 m, while the
protruding part was only 0.55-0.75 m thick. The western wall and the northern front wall were also
approximately 0.70-75 m wide, while the south-western and north-eastern walls of the courtyard
wing ranged between 0.90 and 0.95 m, the thickest part being the eastern end of the northern wall
(0.75 m). The north-western wall was 0.45 m thick. The walls of the first floor were thinner, save
for the north-eastern and south-western walls of the street wing, which were as thick there as on
the ground floor level (0.75 m), also indicating the direction of the roof structure. However, the
north-western and south-eastern walls were only 0.60-0.65 m wide, no more than 0.45 m in Room 18.

20  The abundance of brick fragments indicates that Rooms 1-3 perhaps once had brick floors. DAvID 1976,
1-2, 5; SEDLMAYR 1976a, 1; TOMKA 1977a, 17 May 1977, 2; 18 May 1977, 2-3; 19 May 1977, 3; 23 May 1977,
4; 25 May 1977, 5; 1 June 1977, 8; 3 June 1977, 8; 7 June 1977, 9-10; 14 June 1977, 14; 15 June 1977, 14-15;
20 June 1977, 11; 12 July 1977, 16, 18; SEDLMAYR 1983c, 1-2.

21  DAVID 1976, 1, 4, 6; SEDLMAYR 19764, 1.
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Fig. 11. Ground floor of 19 F§ Street coloured according to building phases. Lighter shades mark only
assumed affiliation (after M. Walsa 1983, 04. Hungarian Museum of Architecture, Data Archive on Jasz
Street, Inv. no. 22629 and M. Walsa 1983, 05. Hungarian Museum of Architecture, Data Archive on Jasz
Street, Inv. no. 22629).

The walls of the courtyard wing’s first floor were also considerably thinner than a level below: the
south-western wall was only 0.60 m, the north-western only 0.45-0.50 m thick.” The north-east-
ern wall was 0.70-0.75 m thick until the two-thirds of Room 13, where it slimmed down to 0.60 m,
retaining a thickness of about 0.65 m until the staircase. The gable wall in the attic was also about
0.65 m thick. The wall foundations of rubble and some bricks were discovered at 0.70-0.80 m be-
low the current floor level. Incorporated stone wall segments of buildings from previous phases
could be observed at several points: in the eastern end of Room 7 (7/a), appearing as the feet of the
north-eastern, south-eastern and south-western walls up to a height of 1.5 m, as well as in Rooms
10, 8, and perhaps also 9. In Room 10, the incorporated wall segment was 1.65-1.75 m high on the
inside and about 2.50-2.75 m high from the recent surface outside. Although research did not yield
related data, it cannot be excluded that such wall segments are also incorporated on the first floor,
in the north-eastern wall of Room 13. The ledge height on the facade was about the same as today.”

22 DAVID 1976, 1, 4, 5; SEDLMAYR 1976a, 1-2; TOMKA 1977a, 17 May 1977, 2; 18 May 1977, 2-3; 19 May 1977, 3;
23 May 1977, 4; 25 May 1977, 5; 1 June 1977, 8; 3 June 1977, 8; 7 June 1977, 9-10; 15 June 1977, 14; 12 ]uly
1977, 16. SEDLMAYR 1983c, 5.

23 DAvID 1976, 1-5; ToMKA 1977a, 17 May 1977, 2; 18 May 1977, 2-3; 19 May 1977, 3; 23 May 1977, 4; 25 May
1977, 5; 1 June 1977, 8; 3 June 1977, 8; 7 June 1977, 9-10; 15 June 1977, 14; 12]u1y 1977, 16, 19. ARHERN 1983, 1;
SEDLMAYR 1983c, 5.
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Fig. 12. First floor of 19 Fé Street coloured according to building phases. Lighter shades mark only assumed
affiliation (after M. Walsa 1983, 05. Hungarian Museum of Architecture, Data Archive on Jasz Street, Inv.
no. 22629)

The only opening created probably in this phase on the ground floor zone of the facade today is the
stone-framed, grooved ventilation window VIIc; under that, there once was perhaps a door. Up-
stairs, in the northern part of the eastern wall, two ornate stone mullion and transom windows with
a double window sill (XXa, XXb) illuminated a section of the room that is Room 20 today. Although
there is no evidence, I believe Room 19 initially had a smaller window where the 2.75 metre-high
niche XIXc stands today. The windows with a double stool and sill in Room 18, south of that, were
arranged symmetrically. One was a plastered square bay window, XVIIIh, with recesses that served
as eyeholes. It slightly protruded from the facade and rested on a pair of stone cantilever beams.
Based on the persisting carved stone fragments, it was probably divided by mullions or transoms,
and the carpentry behind it was continuous. South of that, another stone mullion and transom win-
dow, XVIIIg, interrupted the facade, while further south, there was a similar but wider bay window,
XVIIIf (Fig. 15).2 The wall research documentation describes the plaster remains discovered high on
the facade south of window VIlc, near the eyeholes of the bay windows, and between the openings
XXa and XXb as relics from the previous building phase; however, in my opinion, these belong to the
Late Gothic phase (VII). The plaster could be exposed on a relatively large spot, by 0.5-0.6x2.75 m;

24  DAvID 1976, 1-2, 4; TOMKA 1977a, 18 May 1977, 2; SEDLMAYR 1983a, 15 August 1981; SEDLMAYR 1983c, 2, 5.
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it contained a fragment of the painted framing of the windows, featuring delicate red lines on an
off-white background. Another spot, north of window XXb, had a different pattern: a kind of cor-
ner rustication imitation, alternate quoining made of diagonally divided painted rectangles, with
the lower-left half (triangle) painted red and the upper-right white (Fig. 3). The gate (0a) probably
stood where it is today; its original extent can be measured from the remains of its frame on the in-
ner side. The distance between the two reveals is 3.15 m, indicating 1.75 m-wide door frames, which
fit well with the wall niches. Based on the cross vault arch, the original doorframe’s highest point
(in the middle) could not be higher than 3.55 m; that is, it must have been lower and smaller than
today. As the related parts of the arched stone head had been lost, no information persisted on the
arch type and moulding of the gate; it was probably similar to other openings of the period. Some
red-painted plastered wall parts persisted in situ in the gateway (Room 0), marking the western end
of the building in phase VII (Fig. 16).* The gateway’s barrel vault, pependicular to the street, and the
cross vault making up the ceiling of its eastern end were also constructed in this phase.

The ground floor north of the gateway was divided into two rooms by a 0.75-0.80 m-thick stone or brick
wall; based on the related findings, the walls of both were plastered. The walls of the eastern room, 7a,
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Fig. 13. Standing, demolished and assumed architectural elements of the ground floor, phase VII (after
M. Walsa 1983, 04. Hungarian Museum of Architecture, Data Archive on Jasz Street, Inv. no. 22629 and
M. Walsa 1983, 05. Hungarian Museum of Architecture, Data Archive on Jasz Street, Inv. no. 22629).

25 DAvID 1976, 1-2.
26  DAvID 1976, 1-3; TOMKA 1977a, 15 June 1977, 15.
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Fig. 14. Standing, demolished and assumed architectural elements of the first floor, phase VII (after
M. Walsa 1983, 05. Hungarian Museum of Architecture, Data Archive on Jasz Street, Inv. no. 22629)

incorporated some stone walls from phase V; its extents were 4.6x4.15 m. The western room, 7b, was
3.4x4.9 m large. Room 7b could be accessed through a door in place of window 0b, an opening that al-
ready existed in phase V. The position of a ventilation window in Room 7a indicates a high flat ceiling.*

The ground floor area south of the gateway was also divided into two rooms, a large (5.75x7.85 m)
and a smaller one (3.75x7.85 m). It has remained a question whether the large hall next to the gate-
way (Rooms 1 and 3) could be accessed directly from there at the time. Research results seem to
refute that: according to Ferenc David, niche or door 01 is modern, and door 0k west of that could
not have been there at the time either, as a brick-based tile stove was unearthed on the spot, right
where another stove also stood earlier, in phase IV.#® (Fig. 17; 18) Conclusively, the hall could have
been accessed directly from the street. This hall had a niche, Illa, in its northern wall that was
probably used for storing things, perhaps lightning equipment. The south-western wall could not
be identified; the 0.5 m thick wall section in its place today is certainly younger as it cuts through
window Ib, an opening definitely created in phase VII. The plaster remains discovered in Room 4
suggest that if such a wall existed at all, its line was north of lunette vault IVa; it was probably thin,
only about 30-40 cm (IV-V-VIa). Nothing indicated how this part of the complex was covered then
(Fig. 13.19-20).%

27 DAvID 1976, 1-3; TomKkA 1977a, 17 May 1977, 2; 18 May 1977, 2; 19 May 1977, 3; 23 May 1977, 4, 20.

28  Its ash pit was also established in phase IV (DAvID 1976, 1, 3-5; ToMKA 1977a, 18 May 1977, 2; 25 May
1977, 5; 26 May 1977, 5; 27 May 1977, 6; 27 May 1977, 7; 12 ]uly 1977, 16, 19).

29  DAVID 1976, 1, 4-5; ToMKA 1977a, 17 May 1977, 2; 18 May 1977, 2-3; 25 May 1977, 5; 1 June 1977, 8; 3 June
1977, 8; 7 June 1977, 9-10; 15 June 1977, 15; 12 July 1977, 16, 19.
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Fig. 15. Medieval windows (XVIllg, XXa, XXb) with the related exposed stone fragments and ventilation
window Vllc on the street facade (Vllc: author’s survey on 28 October 2020; XVIllg, XXa, XXb: MZ. Olah
1981, 05. Hungarian Museum of Architecture, Data Archive on Jasz Street, Inv. no. 22629; A. Vandor, M.
Walsa and Strohmayerné 1976, 03. and Strohmayerné 1976, 05. Hungarian Museum of Architecture, Data
Archive on Jasz Street, Inv. no. 22631)
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Fig. 16. Southern profile of trench K1. (after P. Tomka and R. Pusztai 1977, Ill. 26/1978 Hungarian National
Museum, Data Archive on Magyar Street, Inv. no. 11382). The legend see: Fig. 24

The one-time smaller hall comprises Rooms 4-6. The protruding southwestern wall part adds a
booth of 1.85x3 m to its space. Like in the previous case, it has yet to be clarified how it could be
accessed: if a wall separated it from its larger northern neighbour, perhaps a door opened from
that, or one could enter the smaller hall directly from the street, through a door in place of, e.g.,
IVa, a semi-circular arched lunette vault. A mullion and transom window with a window sill, VIa,
was certainly created in this phase. As for the ceiling, the barrel vault of the booth, perpendicular
to the street, does not extend over that, and Rooms 4-6 did not contain any other coeval evidence
of covering (Fig. 13.19).*

The cellar of the courtyard wing comprises today’s Rooms 8-10. In phase VII, this space was divided
into two: alarger hall (Rooms 8 and 10) and a smaller one (Room 9). The large room was 13.3x5-5.25 m;
some openings in its south-western wall have been identified as belonging to phase VII (west
to east: a round-arched cellar door, Xd, and three recess ventilation windows, Xa, Xb, and Xc)
(Fig. 21).°' It is a question of whether there was another opening in the place of 0g at the time, and
if yes, was it another cellar door or a ventilation window? The cellar was covered by a large brick
barrel vault perpendicular to the street, interrupted by a lunette vault above door Xd. Although no
plastered wall fragment was found in this room, it cannot be excluded that its walls were plastered.*

The small room, only 2.75x5 m, east of the cellar, was also part of the courtyard wing. It shares its
eastern wall with Room 7b, while its line matches the western exterior wall (identified south of

30 DAvID 1976, 1, 4-5; TomKA 1977a, 17 May 1977, 2; 1 June 1977, 8; 3 June 1977, 8; 7 June 1977, 9-10.
31 'The reveals of these windows are perhaps older.
32  DAVID 1976, 1, 3; ARHERN 1983, 1; SEDLMAYR 1983c, 2, 5.
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Fig. 17. Features mainly from phases Ill and IV. (after P. Tomka and R. Pusztai 1977, Ill. 26/ 1978 Hungarian
National Museum, Data Archive on Magyar Street, Inv. no. 11382)

the gateway), continuing northwards. Nowadays, it is only 0.50-0.55 m thick, but it was probably
thicker, about 0.70-0.75 m, at the time of its construction. The room has no openings from phase VII
today; perhaps it had ventilation windows akin to those in Room 10 (cellar window 0f).**

The number of openings from this period on the courtyard fagade of the street wing is remarkably
low today; only two can be mentioned (Ib, VIa). The lack of openings and the excavation results
unanimously suggest a (probably round-rampant-arched) staircase between the southwestern part
of the gateway or west of the recent chimney and window VIa.* Its height can be estimated based
on the position of window Ib: the imposts had to be above 1.91-1.97 m. The staircase led to the
vaulted booth in Rooms 4-6 and, through that, to Room 18, with a segmental-arched opening on the
upper floor. Beside the stairs, the earlier well—its shaft lined with planks at the bottom and bricks
above—was wedged into a wall, also indicating the extension of the street wing (Fig. 7.17).%

33  DAvID 1976, 1, 3; TomKA 1977a, 17 May 1977, 2; 18 May 1977, 2; 19 May 1977, 3; 23 May 1977, 4; SEDLMAYR
1983c, 2, 5.

34  This huge empty wall surface might indicate a flight of stairs connecting the floors of the building. The
existence of such a construction is also supported by some excavated features, including the stakeholes
(VIID4a) in a gravel layer in trench D4 and a row of stones set in clay in the line of the protruding niche
of Room 6. Perhaps the staircase was located between this foundation and the niche.

35 DAVID 1976, 4-5; TOMKA 1977a, 26 May 1977, 5; 27 May 1977, 7; PuszTaI 1980, 2; PuszTar 1981b; SEDL-
MAYR 1983c, 5; ARHERN 1983, 2.
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Fig. 18. Features mainly from phase VII. (after P. Tomka and R. Pusztai 1977, Ill. 26/ 1978 Hungarian
National Museum, Data Archive on Magyar Street, Inv. no. 11382)

The upper floor of the street wing consisted of two or three rooms. Of these, Room 18, of 9x10.45 m
(or 7.5x10 m, according to field documentation), was the biggest residential space in the entire building.
The opening (XVIIIg) and arches (XVIIIh, XVIIIf) of the former window and bay windows are still vis-
ible on its south-eastern wall. The segmental-arched niche (XVIIle) in almost exactly the middle of the
south-western wall, probably used to store something important, also hints at the one-time function
of the room. The other low, segmental-arched niche (XVIIIa) in the northern end of the north-western
wall could have been part of the heating infrastructure; however, it cannot be linked with certainty to
phase VIIL The great hall probably had a flat wood beam ceiling in that phase, higher than the arches
of the openings; its walls, based on niche XVIlle, were probably plastered (Fig. 20).%

While the walls did not preserve any related trace, we know that Room 18 had a neighbour, Room
19, in the north. The length of Room 19 can only be estimated: if its north-eastern wall above
the gate was in line with the facade wall on the ground level, it was about 4.3 m wide (XIXA).
The north-western section of that wall (XIXB) was of the same width as in Room 18, while the
north-eastern and south-western walls were 0.5-0.65 m thick. No window openings have persisted
from this phase; one, however, could have been where XIXc is today but smaller (Fig. 14).

Room 20 once stood north of Room 19. Their width was similar, but the length of Room 20 could
have been around 5.6 m, supposed the line of its south-western wall (XIXA) matched that of the
gateway. Two window openings interrupted its south-eastern wall (XXa, XXb). If Rooms 20 and 19
were not a single space, they were probably connected (akin to Rooms 18 and 19) by a door. The
walls of both were probably plastered (Fig. 14).*

36  DAVID 1976, 1-2, 4—5; SEDLMAYR 1976a, 2; SEDLMAYER 1983c, 2, 5.
37  DAVID 1976, 1-2, 4; SEDLMAYR 19764, 2; SEDLMAYR 1983c, 2, 5.
38  DAVID 1976, 1, 2, 4; SEDLMAYR 19764, 2; SEDLMAYR 1983c, 2, 5.
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Fig. 19. Medieval windows (Ib, Vla) with the related exposed stone fragments on the courtyard facade of
the street wing (after MZ. Olah 1981, 05. Hungarian Museum of Architecture, Data Archive on Jasz Street,
Inv. no. 22629; A. Vandor, M. Walsa and Strohmayerné 1976, 03. Hungarian Museum of Architecture, Data
Archive on Jasz Street, Inv. no. 22631)

The upper floor of the courtyard wing was divided into two large rooms and a smaller one, iden-
tical to today’s Rooms 12, 15, and 21. The first room in the row was about 3x5.75 m. Its south-east-
ern wall, XXA, was about 0.6-0.65 m, the north-western (XIIIB) about 0.6-0.75 m thick, while the
south-western wall matched that of the courtyard wing. A large room, 13b, was attached to its
north-western side. This room, identical to today’s Rooms 12 and 13, was 6.6x6.3-6.35 m (Fig. 14).
Based on similar coeval walls in the building, XIITA, the north-western wall of Room 13, could be
about 0.50-0.75 m thick. A stone-framed window and a shouldered-arched door (XIIIb, XIIIc) inter-
rupted the western part of the south-western wall in this phase (Figs 22-23); besides, the eastern
part of the same wall must have had a similar window (VIIXIVa), of which but nothing persisted.
A niche with a three-pointed-arched opening, XIIla, was opposite the door, approximately in the
middle of the north-eastern wall (Fig. 20). The room had a flat wood beam ceiling at the time, higher
than the top of the openings’ reveals.”

The next unit, 13a, is also located in Room 13 today. Its extents were about 6.9x6.4-6.45 m (Fig. 14).
Its south-western wall is interrupted by two windows of similar size (XIIId, XIIIf) with anoth-
er shoulder-arched door (XIIle) between them (Fig. 23). The windows were smaller than window
Xlllc, but their moulding was identical (Fig. 22). The flat ceiling was supported by wooden joists,

39  DAVID 1976, 1, 3—4; SEDLMAYR 1976a, 1; ARHERN 1983, 1-2.
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akin to the beam and girder slabs in other rooms; its level must have been higher than the top of
the openings’ reveals in the walls. While no plastered wall remains have persisted in this room,
its walls were certainly plastered. An external hanging corridor supported by wooden cantilever
beams was once attached to the south-western wall of Rooms 13/a and 13/b; nothing could be re-
vealed on its superstructure, roof, or the staircase leading to it. The corridor could be accessed from
the east, along Rooms 8 and 9.

Analogies of building phase VII

As relatively much information persisted on both the layout and the architectural details of the Late
Gothic building complex of phase VII, analogies are easy to find. The wing street’s roof structure was
probably parallel to the street; this arrangement was common, for example, in Buda at the time.*

Buildings with a relatively long facade and a long courtyard wing are rare among Late Gothic
urban buildings in medieval Hungary. Such complexes were usually constructed by connect-
ing two previous buildings with a vaulted gate entrance. For example, under 6 Oskola Street in
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Fig. 20. Niches XVllla, XVllle, Xllla, and Illa (survey by the author, 27 October 2020)

40  DAVID 1976, 1, 3—4; SEDLMAYR 1976a, 1; ARHERN 1983, 1-2.
41  HORLER 1955, 136.
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Székesfehérvar, two 14th-century buildings, a main and an outbuilding, were transformed into a
single complex at the time of the reign of Sigismund of Luxembourg. The high-prestige building
under 40 Uri Street in Buda was created by integrating two earlier buildings in the second half of
the 15th century.*” The partially cellared large house with an L-shaped ground plan on the main
square of Vac, built around 1485, was identified as the manor house of bishop Miklés Bathori.
This house was also created by joining two formerly separate buildings with a gateway. Similar
complex buildings were erected in Székesfehérvar (17 Megyehaz Street) and Buda (48 Uri Street)
at the turn of the 15th and 16th centuries. While the former was built in a single phase, the latter
was constructed by joining two 14-15th-century buildings. Buildings with an L-shaped ground
plan also appeared in Sopron in the mid-15th century; that type, however, comprised simple pri-
vate houses, lesser in size, complexity, and ornamentation, rather than prestige buildings like the
ones mentioned earlier.”
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Fig. 21. Ventilation windows Xa, Xb, and Xc on the ground level of the courtyard wing (survey by the
author, 27 October 2020)

42 GEREVICH 1950, 171, 174; CSEMEGI 1955, 164; HORLER 1955, 136; POGANY 1955, 556; ERDEI 1984, 134, 138,
142; GERGELYFFY 1990, 161-162.

43  CzZAGANY 1974, 250; MAROSI 1987, 69; KOMJATHYNE KREMNICSAN 1989, 172.
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Fig. 22. Medieval windows (XIIIf, XIIId, XIllc) with the related exposed stone fragments on the first floor of
the courtyard wing. (survey by the author, 27-28 October 2020; M. Walsa 1976, 04. Hungarian Museum of
Architecture, Data Archive on Jasz Street, Inv. no. 22629; M. Walsa and Strohmayerné 1976, 03. Hungarian

Museum of Architecture, Data Archive on Jasz Street, Inv. no. 22631)

Several coeval analogies help determine the functions of the rooms. Ventilation recesses inter-
rupting the facades of buildings on ground level were characteristic features of shops, stores, and
workshops in 15-16th-century towns. These windows were big enough to illuminate the interior,
but their size and positioning did not allow anyone to climb in through them, thus protecting the
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stocks. House owners often rented these ground-floor rooms. Buildings with such rooms are known
from Buda (13 Uri Street, 18 Orszaghaz Street). In some cases, the facade had two recesses (10 Fortu-
na Street), usually with an entrance under them (48 Uri street, 2 Orszaghaz Street). The ground floor
usually also comprised some kind of residential space on the other side of the gateway, opposite the
shop.* Just like cellars, the rooms of this floor had fireproof brick barrel vault ceilings. While most
vaults were parallel with the street in most places, perpendicular ones, covering rooms, cellars, and
gateways, were also characteristic of Buda in the 14-15th centuries.”

Several ceremonial great halls are known from the period; this element in urban architecture is an
adaptation of similar spaces in castles. These halls, called palacium depictum, were large, always posi-
tioned on the upper floor; they had painted plastered walls with three to four windows and a coffered
wooden ceiling. The mid- or late-15th-century great hall 9 Orszaghaz Street, was located right above
the gateway; three windows illuminated it. The room left of that was probably of less prestige, as
indicated by the lower floor level and simpler opening design. The size of the palacium depictum was
7.5x10 m. In smaller complexes, like the buildings under 18 and 20 Orszaghaz Street, the representative
part comprised the entire upper floor of the street wing.*

Living rooms, like the inner room (camera) and the less personal anticamera before it, were usually
located in the courtyard wing. These rooms may be identified based on architectural details like
the three-pointed-arch- or segmental arch-framed wall niches for beds and tile stove remains, as
beds were usually positioned near the stoves (see, for example, the prince’s room in the royal pal-
ace of Visegrad). Besides, wall niches were added to dining and ceremonial halls, for example, for
storing lightning equipment (e.g., House of Schoolmaster Paszt6 under 11 Uj Street in Sopron) or,
when shelved, books and other personal items.”” As for stairs, analogies are scarce. Two structures
can be mentioned that are similar to the supposed straight stair connecting the great hall and the
ground floor: the L-shaped, ornate building of the cathedral chapter under 4 Kéaptalan Street in
Pécs was fitted with external stairs leading to the upper floor under King Sigismund’s reign, while
the so-called Vallasszabadsag haza (House of the Freedom of Religion) in Kolozsvar/Cluj-Napoca
(Romania) was completed with stairs, the stone railings of which are still visible today, in the
second half of the 15th century. In contrast to external stairs, cantilevered external corridors, like
the one by the courtyard wing, were relatively frequent in 15th-century urban buildings (see,
for example, the Gambrinus House and 3 Szent Mihaly Street in Sopron and another building in
Székesfehérvar).:®

Representative units were often fitted with bay windows supported by arches and cantilevers; these
not only enlarged the space but also divided and decorated the facade. Bay windows are a characteris-
tic element of 15-16th-century secular buildings like urban houses and castles. Some were polygonal
(also called splay bay windows: e.g., 17 Megyehaz Street in Székesfehérvar, 17 Uri Street in Buda),
others, square (e.g., 18 Orszaghaz Street in Buda, 5 Kolostor Street in Sopron). Some were lavishly dec-
orated (17 Megyehaz Street in Székesfehérvar, Castle of Siklos).” Bay windows came with large mul-
lion and transom windows with eyeholes on the sides and painted walls (5 Kolostor Street in Sopron

44  GEREVICH 1950, 190; HORLER 1955, 137, 141; POGANY 1955, 336; CZAGANY 1966, 46; CZAGANY 1974, 248,
254; MAROSI 1987, 69; TOTH — BUZzAS 2016, 201.

45 HORLER 1955, 132; CZAGANY 1962, 233, 236; CZAGANY 1992, 117, 126, 129.
46 GEREVICH 1950, 170, 184, 192; CZAGANY 1966, 42; MAROSI 1987, 69.
47  LUKACS 2011, 42, 76; TOTH — BUzZAS 2016, 219; SZOBOSZLAY 2018, 157; VALTER 2018, 239.

48  CSATKAI 1956, 33; DAVID — SCHONERNE PuszTAl 1977, 130; G. SANDOR 1983, 166, 176—177; LOVEI 1989,
168; LupEscu — KovAcs 2020, 232, 238, Fig. 14.

49  GEREVICH 1950, 194; KOMJATHYNE KREMNICSAN 1989, 172; SEDLMAYR 1990, 139, 142, 143, 152.
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Fig. 23. Medieval doors (XIllb, Xllle) with the related exposed stone fragments on the first floor of the
courtyard wing (survey by the author, 29 October 2020; Strohmayerné 1976, 05.; A. Vandor, M. Walsa and
Strohmayerné 1976, 03. Hungarian Museum of Architecture, Data Archive on Jasz Street, Inv. no. 22631)

and 3 Szent Mihaly Street in Sopron). The cantilevers consisted of quarter-arch- or ogee-shaped single
or double beams, ogee-shaped terminals being a characteristic of 15th-century buildings. Buildings
usually only had a single bay window, which also makes the Cselley House exceptional.*

The openings of the building complex have several analogies. Therefore, they can be easily recon-
structed even if nothing has remained of the gate frame and the cellar door. Most 15-16th-century
gate frames were round-arched (e.g., 18 and 23 Tancsics Mihaly Street in Buda) or segmental-arched
(e.g., 18 and 22 Orszaghaz Street in Buda, 158 Lajos Street in Obuda [Old Buda], or the Stettner
House in Készeg).” The frame was usually chamfered, while the mouldings of more complex frames
featured roll and pointed bow-tells with chamfer (e.g., 9 Orszaghaz Street in Buda). Cellar door
frames were usually round-arched and chamfered, about 0.90-1.90 m wide and 1.50-2.08 m high.*

While the lavishly decorated mullion and transom windows with a double stool and sill on the
eastern facade have no close analogy as a whole, the moulding of their jambs, stools, and sills have
several from the second half of the 15th century. Their moulding is pointed bow-tell; this type,
due to an influence of the Parler School, gradually lost its significance and symmetry and became

50  GEREVICH 1950, 194; SEDLMAYR 1959, 99; CZAGANY 1962, 232; DAVID — SCHONERNE PUszTAI 1977, 131.
51 HORLER 1955, 136—137; POGANY 1955, 503; BERTALAN 1997, 323.
52 CZzZAGANY 1992, 125; MIKLOS 1996, 58.
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mixed with older styles (chamfered and roll) in the second half of the 15th century. The frames
reflect the influence of the stone carving workshop of Master Janos, a Franciscan monk working
on the construction of the castle of Visegrad, whose work around 1470-1480 had a lasting effect on
Hungarian architecture.”® The characteristic elements of his workshop are frames with mouldings
composed of roll variations and pointed bow-tells that intersected at the corners. Among others,
the mullion and transom windows with pointed bow-tell-decorated frames in the west wing of
the castle of Visegrad, constructed between 1476 and 1481, can be linked to this workshop. Besides,
the excavations of the royal palace brought to light a fragment from the carved stone frame of an
ornate cantilevered bay window. The profile of this fragment is hollow, chamfer, roll, flute, cham-
fer, pointed bow-tell, hollow, hollow, sunken fillet—a pattern almost identical to that on the upper
floor windows of the Cselley House (except for the small hollow before the sunken fillet and the
lower, decorated part of the rolls). The excavations also yielded several window fragments with a
large window sill from the so-called North-eastern Palace; this design was popular at the time.*
For example, the Old Town Hall in Nagyszeben (Sibiu, Romania) has two separate ornate polyg-
onal window stools in one of the upper floor windows on the south fagade, while the building
under 4 Kaptalan Street in Pécs has similar stools in two windows in the eastern wall from 1434.
In terms of both design and moulding, the closest analogies to the mullion and transom division
of the windows of the Cselley House may be found in the similar openings on the upper floor in
the facade of 18 Orszaghaz Street, erected around 1470-1480, the profile of which consists of an
external sunken fillet, a three-quarter-hollow, a roll, another three-quarter-hollow, a chamfer, a
pointed bow-tell, a chamfer, and a quarter-hollow. The only differences between these profiles and
the windows of the Cselley House are the chamfered sides of the jambs of the former, the width of
the hollows, and the chamfer around the rolls.*

Another close analogy to these windows and window VIa may be found on the eastern facade
of the Castle of Soml6 in County Veszprém, also featuring a stone-framed mullion and transom
window with a window stool and a sill very similar to the above, and the profile of which (small
hollow, sunken fillet, quarter hollow) is almost identical to the courtyard windows (VIa and Ib) of
the Cselley House. This window can be dated to the turn of the 15th and 16th centuries, the time of
Pal Kinizsi (1470-1490) or Job Garai.*® A shop window in the northern gateway of 48—-50 Orszaghaz
Street in Buda has a similar profile; however, it was dated to the 14-15th centuries. The first-floor
windows of 13 Uri Street, facing Anna Street, in Buda, also have a similar profile: a 65-degree cham-
fer outside and a sunken fillet and quarter-hollow inside. This design, save for the window sill, is
typical of the post-Gothic style. The frames were dated to the second half of the 15th century.”

Based on the profiles of their frames (including the 45-degree chamfer and pyramidal sides that
represent a simplification of Gothic moulding types), the door openings on the courtyard’s front
wall can be assigned to the Late Gothic or (after Istvan Czagany) post-Gothic style. Similar pyram-
idal-profile frames are known from the windows of the building under 158 Lajos Street in Obuda
(dated to the 1500s) and an ornate door from 1514 in the gateway of the house at 14 Fortuna Street
in Buda.’®

53  CzAGANY 1959, 40; CZAGANY 1964, 267, 283; TOTH — BUZAS 2016, 220—-221.

54 BAGYINSZKI — BuzAs 2009, 8; BuzAs — LOVEI 2001, 21; BuzAs et al. 2010, 60-61; BozOKI 2012, 49, 54, 168.
55 CZAGANY 1966, 45—46; G. SANDOR 1983, 173—174.

56  KoprrANY 2007, 7, 11, 23.

57  CzAGANY 1971, 330, 337; CZAGANY 1974, 250.

58 CZzZAGANY 1959, 39; CZAGANY 1963, 95, 99; BERTALAN 1997, 323, 324.
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Function and dating

In light of the available analogies, the Cselley House in phase VII—based on its size, elaborately
framed openings, and the great hall with two bay windows (unique in Hungary)—was an excep-
tional building of probably an affluent and illustrious person. It is possible that it was not a private
but a public building, e.g., the town hall or an inn,* while the ground floor room by the street (with
the ventilation window) was perhaps rented for a shop. The stove-heated room on the ground floor
south of the gateway was a living room or kitchen, while the somewhat sunken ground floor rooms
in the courtyard wing served as cellar and storage spaces. The largest room of the building, on the
upper floor of the street wing, must have been the great hall, a characteristic element of 15th-centu-
ry private urban buildings; the large windows and bay windows and the almost symmetrical niche
in the south-western wall support this interpretation. The function of the rooms north of the great
hall could not be determined. The courtyard wing comprised the bedroom, another inner room
(camera) and a small hall (anticamera) east of them. The bedroom could be identified based on its
position (away from the street), a niche with a three-pointed-arched frame.

Based on available analogies and excavation results, the building complex representing phase VII of
the Cselley House was constructed between the second half of the 15th and the early 16th centuries.®

Concluding remarks

Although in the present article, I do not wish to elaborate upon later chapters of the building history
of the Cselley House, it must be mentioned that while the upcoming stormy centuries inflicted sev-
eral waves of destruction on the town (especially in 1529 and 1683), not sparing the building either,
the Late Gothic design is still the one determining its character today. The present state of the house
allows, to some extent, for a reconstruction of the layout and facade of the Late Medieval building
complex. I believe that the Cselley House is an important monument of Mosonmagyarévar, one
with great tourism potential; therefore, it would be necessary to continue its research, as neither
the excavations nor the wall research campaigns conducted thus far were comprehensive. The case
of the Cselley House also highlights the possibility that there may be other medieval buildings in
the historic centre of the town that only wait to be discovered.
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